2007

Lebr Associates, L.L.C., a Utah Limited Liability  
Company, and Centennial Pointe Property Owners  
Association (formed November 29, 2004) v.  
Myriam Onyeabor : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

On October 25, 2007, the Supreme Court transferred this initial appeal filed by Appellant Onyeabor to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2) (j).

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue #1: Based on the facts before the trial court, including Ms Onyeabor's pro se status, was the trial court in error in striking Ms Onyeabor's affidavits and other relevant documents that were crucial to Appellant Onyeabor's case, thereby denying Ms Onyeabor due process?

Issue # 2: In light of the following: a) Appellant Onyeabor's statements that she was unaware of the Restated CC&Rs and the radical changes therein, b) sworn testimonies confirming the claims in her affidavit by Travis Healey, her real estate agent, and Mr. Bob Mills, the real estate agent for the Centennial Pointe, LLC and Mr. Sanborn), c) the recorded deed to Lots ## 4-7 that stated under oath that prior to the filing of the Restated CC&Rs, Centennial Pointe, LLC had already conveyed Lots # 4-7 to another Owner, Paul Bezdijan, and d) Notary Crockett's admission that a significant portion of the document that she purportedly notarized was missing, did the trial court erroneously fail to consider the disputed evidence regarding the existence and validity of the purported signature of Appellant Onyeabor in the Restated CC&Rs?

Issue # 3: Did appellant Onyeabor have a confidential or fiduciary relationship with Declarant Centennial Pointe LLC, the 2000 property association, and Mr. Sanborn, as their agent and President, respectively, when all three failed to disclose to her, her real estate agent, and their own real estate agent, that at the time of recording the Restated CC&Rs, it falsely represented the ownership of a more than the majority of the Lots, and the amendments would be used to radically change her private property interests that were conveyed by warranty deeds?—

Issue #4: Based on the facts before the trial court, including Ms Onyeabor's pro se status, was Appellant Onyeabor's counterclaim against LBER and Mr. Raile, for assault, trespass improperly dismissed with prejudice, thereby denying Ms Onyeabor due process?

Issue # 5: Under either the Original CC&Rs or Restated CC&Rs, does the Appellee 2004 Association have any "legally protectable interest" to justify "exclusive jurisdiction and control" over Lots # 1 and # 2, whereas the filed Plat of the Subdivision, integrated into both CC&Rs, contained no designation of any "common areas," "common elements," or Lots and the entire Plat constitutes private property individually-owned "fee simple?"

Issue #6: Do the deeds to Appellant Onyeabor Onyeabor for Lot #1 and Lot #2 create any easement rights to Lot 1 and lot 2 in Plaintiff LEBR or the 2004 Association when neither of the Plaintiffs nor their predecessor-in-interest had any property interest in Lots 1 and Lot 2 at the time of the conveyance to appellant Ms Onyeabor?

Issue # 7: Does the Appellee 2004 Association have any “legally protectable interest” in making assessments against owners of Lots in the subdivision or in the maintenance of the “common areas” when the filed Plat of the Subdivision contained no designation of any “common areas,” and the so-called “common areas” is private property, or Lots individually-owned “fee simple.”?

Issue # 8: In light of the Restated CC&Rs, the unconventional inclusion of 74 % of the Appellant Onyeabor's Lots #1, and the inclusion of 61 % of Lot # 2, dedicated to the “exclusive jurisdiction and control” of the Appellee 2004 Association, does the failure of the Declarant the Association to amend the Plat to show the easements, make the Association’s efforts to enforce the Restated CC&Rs on Appellant Onyeabor an on-going violation of the criminal code of the City of Salt Lake City, rendering the CC&rs void and unenforceable by a court of law?

Issue # 9: In the light of the fact that the Appellee 2004 Association has the burden of proof to demonstrate it satisfied conditions precedent incorporated in the CC&Rs, did the Appellee 2004 Association show ample “legally protectible interest” sufficient to demonstrate both standing and as it related to the assessments of the Association against appellant Onyeabor either prior to its incorporation, or (b) prior to its substitution as a party in the litigation?

Issue # 10: Is the “intent” of Declarant, Centennial Pointe LLC, relevant to the meaning of the Restated CC&Rs material when the proffered evidence contradicted the unambiguous provisions of the Plat, and Mr. Sanborn clearly superseded the authority to amend for “minor adjustments” as stipulated in the Original CC&R?

Issue # 11: Assuming the validity of the Restated CC&Rs that had two purported Declarants, Centennial Pointe, LLC and appellant Onyeabor, did the trial court commit reversible error when it failed to recognize the significance of the two declarants having conflicting understandings and interpretations of what constituted a “Lot” and “Common Elements” in the Subdivision?

Issue # 12: In light of a) appellant Onyeabor's objection to the Restated CC&Rs as early as 2001, b) the 2000 Property Association’s dissolution, and six of the seven lot owners’ repudiation of the entire Association in 2002, c) and the formation of the Appellee 2004 Association after the filing of the present litigation in 2004, did Appellee 2004 Association satisfy its burden to show that there was no factual dispute that appellant Onyeabor had ratified the restated CC&Rs?

Issue # 13: Did LEBR, Donald Sanborn, Bruce Raile, and Appellee 2004 Association (allegedly assuming the position of the dissolved and repudiated 2000 Association) commit constructive fraud between 2001-2004 by acting on behalf of an Association that did not exist?

Issue # 14: Assuming the validity of the Restated CC&Rs, did the district court erroneously award attorney's fees against Appellant Onyeabor whereas the Appellee 2004 Association lacked standing to pursue its claims under the Restated CC&Rs, the document upon which it relied to claim entitlement to an award of attorney fees?

Issue #15: Based on evidence before the court, were the “votes” or changes made in an “oral agreement,” between the parties, as to the manner in which maintenance was done and the establishment that “owner” has authority on the areas designated as “Lots” on the Plat, which

occurred in 2002 and lasted until weeks prior to Plaintiffs instigating this legal action in October 2004, significant enough that Mr. Raile of LEBR had no authority( purportedly vested in him by a non-existent Association), to arbitrarily forego the “oral agreements” and reinstall the tenets of Restated CC&R in order to facilitate his position in an ongoing dispute over who owns and controls Ms Onyeabor’s Lots 1&2.

Issue # 16: In light of the following: a) the confidential and fiduciary relationships Plaintiffs have with Appellant Onyeabor, b) professional background of Appellant Onyeabor submitted with her affidavit to the trial court, c) the material observations contained in her son Alexander Udeh’s affidavit, and d) lack of justifications for Plaintiffs to harass, threaten and hound Ms Onyeabor for several years on her property under the auspices of a non-existent Association, and e) the lack of any lawful authority of Plaintiffs to bring this action, was Appellant Onyeabor’s counterclaims for intentional infliction of emotional distress improperly dismissed with prejudice and her affidavits stricken, thereby denying her due process?

## DETERMINATIVE LAW

Rule 56 Utah R. Civ.P.

(c) Motion and proceedings thereon.

The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

\* \* \* \* \*

(e) Form of affidavits; further testimony; defense required.

Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits. ...

Utah Code

§ 10-91-606

A parcel designated as common or community area on plat recorded in compliance with this part may not be separately owned or conveyed independent of the parcels created by the plat.

The ownership interest in a parcel described in subsection (1) shall:

- (a) for purposes of assessment, be divided equally among all parcels created by the plat, unless a different division of interest for assessment purposes is indicated on the plat or an accompanying recorded document; and
- (b) be considered to be included as in the description of each instrument describing a parcel on the plat by its identifying plat number, even if the common or community area interest is not explicitly stated in the instrument

§ 10-9a-803(2):

“Violation of any of the provisions of [Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a] or of any ordinances adopted under the authority of [Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a] is punishable as a class C misdemeanor.”

Salt Lake City Ordinances

SLCCO § 20.24.030 H

The side lines of all easements shall be shown by fine dashed lines. The widths of all easements and sufficient ties thereto to definitely locate the same with respect to the subdivision shall be shown. All easements shall be clearly labeled and identified.

SLCCO § 20.36.020

It shall be unlawful for any person to fail to comply with the provisions of this title, and failure to comply with the provisions of this title shall constitute a class C misdemeanor.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from partial summary judgment granted to Plaintiff LEBR and Appellee 2004 Association pursuant to Rule 54(b) Utah R. Civ. P. The trial court's failed to recognize facts before the court which required (1) either a ruling in favor of, or full trial on, Appellant Onyeabor's counterclaims, and (2) reversal of Plaintiff LEBR's and the Appellee 2004 Association's case because a the evidence relied on establishes their lack of standing, or remand as well as factual disputes regarding the merits of their claims.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Plaintiffs and Bruce Raile do not have standing to assert a “legally protectable interest” in the Restated CC&Rs because it is void, and is premised a non-existent easement and ownership



of property by “the Association” and LEBR. Undisputed and disputed questions of fact and lack of notice preclude dismissal of Appellant Onyeabor’s counterclaims. Lack of compliance with conditions precedent both as to amendment of the Original CC&Rs and the making and enforcing of assessments establish that the 2004 Association’s claims are not ripe.

## **I. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **A. Lay Out of Centennial Pointe Industrial Park Subdivision Plat & Premises**

1. On May 3, 1999, Centennial Pointe LLC filed a Plat map described as “THE SUBDIVISION PLAT OF AMENDED PORTION OF LOT 5, PHASE V, ASSOCIATION INDUSTRIAL PARK” (“Plat”) was recorded in the Salt Lake County Recorder’s Office in Book 99-5P of Plats at Page 117. (Record at 1453-1454; Transcript p 5 l. 25 – p 6 l 5.)

2. The Plat shows there are seven lots in the Centennial Pointe Industrial Park (“Industrial Park”). Lots # 1 and # 2 are owned by Appellant Onyeabor . LEBR, LLC is the owner of Lot # 3, which contains two buildings. Each one of the front three lots have independent entrances.

3. The Plat Map contains no designation of any “common areas,” “common areas and facilities,” “parking stalls,” or “common elements.” The Plat Map contains no designation of any easements in favor of the Appellee 2004 Association across Lots ## 1-2, or any other Lot. The Plat Map contains no designation of any easements in favor of any Owner of a Lot in the subdivision across Lots ## 1-2, or any other Lot

4. No amendment to the Plat has been made since its Original filing in 1998. (Record at 1367; Exhibit #if any 17 to Addendum II.)

5. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in June 2002, Bruce Raile and attorney, Dave Castleton erroneously asserted in a written memorandum given to Appellant Onyeabor that the “Property was developed as a planned unit development and common elements, [and] all the recorded documents and plats reflect that type of arrangement.” (Record at 1230 § 11.) Thus, even though it

was asserted that “ driveways *owned* by the Association you would still need common areas or cross easement agreements. The parking stalls are currently *controlled by the Association*,” (Record at 1229-1232 §14; Exhibit #24 to Addendum II; emphasis added,) no property interest held by the Association was presented to the court as a recorded deed, reserved easement, or any indication on the Plat. Bruce Raile and Dave Castleton casually inform Ms Onyeabor that they “we were making,” certain unspecified changes “back when you purchased your property.” Ms Onyeabor did not buy Property from Bruce Raile and Dave Castleton so Ms Onyeabor had no clue what they were talking about. In 2002, the Association, then extinct, had been repudiated, abandoned, the 2002 changes were in place and the representations by Bruce Raile and Dave Castleton about whatever they did to make the CC&Rs “a workable document,” (Record at 1229-1232 Exhibit # 24 to Addendum II), were faulty and some references reflected the Original CC&Rs. 67% is required to make changes in the CC&Rs, not 100% as the memo reflected. Ms Onyeabor explains how she understood their attitudes and their memo in her affidavit (Record at 2112 §9-14, Exhibit 7B)

“That I referred Mr. Raile constantly to the Plat, which is very clear that there were no easements and that there were nothing but Lots . . . That I had believed that Mr. Raile was simply misrepresenting the April CC&Rs since I was not aware of the August.”

**B. Status of Centennial Pointe Property Owners Association.**

6. Under CC&Rs and Restated CC&Rs, the word “Association” means “Centennial Pointe Property Owners Association, Inc., a Utah non-profit organization.” (Record at 1532, page 1, § 1.1; (Record at 1498, page 8, § 1.1).. The “Association shall be formed and maintained as a Utah nonprofit corporation.” (Record at 1498, page 8, § 6.1; (Record at 1532, page1, § 1.1).

7. On April 21, 2000, Non-Profit Articles of Incorporation for Centennial Property Owners Association, Inc. (“2000 Property Association”) were filed with the State of Utah.

8. Between April and December 2000, the developer, Donald Sanborn was President of the 2000 Property Association. (Record at 1100-1105; Affidavit of Donald Sanborn § 21.)

9. In September 2001 the 2000 Property Association was dissolved by the State of Utah.  
(Record at 2167-2168).

10. On or about February 2002, a meeting of the owners of the Lots was held. Owners of six of the seven Lots (who had been responsible for seventy-five percent (75%) of the assessments,) voted to change the CC&Rs to reflect the following changes

- a) exclusive control of Lots, as depicted on the plat map, by each owner
- b) exclusive maintenance of lots by individual owners only
- c) separation of water and security lights from each other
- d) free and independent use of property by each lot owner
- e) Centennial Pointe Association had no further right to anything on any owner's Lot without the owner's permission
- f) individual owners had no right to anything on any other owner slots without the permission of the lot owner.

The foregoing agreements, among others that were adopted at that time, were abided by the property owners. (Record at 2124-2129; Affidavit of Paul Bezdijan § 13-14.)

11. In response to the May 5, 2002 letter Appellant Onyeabor reaffirming the February 2002 position, (Record at 1371, Exhibit 16, Addendum), acting President Bruce Railie of the now dissolved 2000 Association, forwarded to appellant Onyeabor the “requirements” that were necessary to amend the reported Restated CC&Rs. These included securing approval of the lenders as well as amending the Plat.(Record at 1229-1232 § 11 and § 14.) No explanation was given why these requirements were not followed when the Original CC&Rs were purportedly amended on August 24, 2000.

12. During September 2004, this litigation against appellant Onyeabor was filed on behalf of an undefined and non-existent “Centennial Property Owners Association”.

13. On November 29, 2004, Appellee 2004 Association (“2004 Property Association”) was incorporated.

14. In September 2005, the Property Association was joined as a party.

C. Original and Restated CC&Rs, Declarants, and Owners

15. On April 19, 2000, Centennial Pointe, L.L.C. recorded a Declaration of Covenants,

Conditions and Restrictions of Amended Portion of Lot 5, Phase V, Association Industrial Park (“Original CC&Rs”). (Record at 1532-1568.)

16. On April 24, 2000, Centennial Point, L.L.C. conveyed by Special Warranty Deed to Myriam Onyeabor Lot # 1 in Centennial Pointe. (Record at 2176.) Schedule A to both CC&Rs indicated Lot # 1 was 23,384 Square Feet. The Building Size was 6,050 square feet, or approximately 26% of her Lot. (Record at 1532 , Exhibit 2, Addendum II).

17. Under the Original CC&Rs, “until the Declarant has sold all Lots, Declarant shall have the right unilaterally to amend and supplement this Declaration and the Plat to correct any technical errors or to clarify any provision to more fully express the intent of the Declarant for development and management of the Property” (Record at 1532 , Section XIV § (b)).

18. In June of 2002, then acting President Raile (of a dissolved 2000 Association) and attorney David Castleton assured Appellant Onyeabor that

we [which did not include her] spent a considerable amount of *time back at the time you purchased your property*[April – August 2000] *to make the declaration a workable document.* It is designed to provide a method of maintenance and operation *of the entire property that is in the best interest of all owners.* It is true that you give up some of the flexibility that you would have if you were the owner of your own separate parcel.

(Record at 1229-1232 § 17; emphasis added.) Changing the scope of authority of the Association to provide a “method of maintenance in operation of the entire property” conflicts with the limited, asserted authority of the Declarant to “correct any technical errors or to clarify any provision to more fully express the intent of the Declarant for development and management of the Property” (Record at 1532 , Section XIV § (b)).

19. Notary Crockett stated that on August 3, 2000 Appellant Onyeabor executed the Restated CC&Rs, on page 31; nonetheless, at that time the document was missing page 32, that contained the signature notary blocks for Appellant Onyeabor and Mr. Sanborn, Manager of Centennial Pointe, L.L.C. Page 32 also contains the tax serial numbers for each of the seven Lots in the

Subdivision that was necessary to record the same in the Salt Lake County Recorder's Office<sup>1</sup>

(Record at 1159- Notary Crockett's deposition)

20. Evidence before the trial court indicated that Appellant Onyeabor was unaware of the content of the Restated CC&Rs (Record at 1498)<sup>2</sup> and was objecting to efforts by Mr. Raile to enforce the same as early as 2001, (Record at Affidavit of Paul Bezidian Record at 2124-2129, Exh 8; Mill at 2131-2135 Exh 9; Healey at 2136-2141 ) Both of the realtors involved in the sale of Lot # 2 knew nothing about the Restated CC&Rs;<sup>3</sup> (Id.) neither did Paul Bezidian who purchased four lots in Centennial Pointe prior to Bruce Railie's purchases. (Id.) Significantly, in June of 2002 , Bruce Raile forwarded to Appellant Onyeabor legal advice regarding the Restated CC&Rs that made no claim that

---

<sup>1</sup> . Ms Crockett's deposition (Record at 922-1177) ("Counsel: So you decided to notarize it and put your seal on the page where she `actually signed to show that's what you notarized was her signature? Ms Crockett: I don't believe this page was there. Counsel: Okay, you don't remember seeing page 32. Ms Crockett: If I had seen that, I would have notarized that.")

<sup>2</sup> Affidavit of Appellant Onyeabor, November 2005. ("I heard for the first time that the CC&Rs had changed in the fall of 2004 and that I heard it from Mr. Trueblood, an attorney. . . I state categorically, that I was not party in any way, shape or form to the changing of the CC&R on Centennial Point." Record at 1484-1486 § 11Exhibit 7B.

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