2007

Lebr Associates, LLC, a Utah limited liability company, and Centennial Pointe Property Owners Association (Registered on November 29, 2004), a Utah Nonprofit Corporation v. Myriam Onyeabor :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I. CENTENNIAL POINTE'S RESTATED AMENDED CC&RS ARE VALID AND BURDEN MS. ONYEABOR'S PROPERTY AS A MATTER OF LAW.

A. Ms. Onyeabor Purchased Lot 1 Subject to Centennial Pointe, LLC's Right to Unilaterally Amend or Supplement the April 2000 CC&Rs and the Plat.

Centennial Pointe, LLC, had the right to unilaterally amend the April 2000 CC&Rs, and Ms. Onyeabor purchased her property in Centennial Pointe subject to that right. Specifically, Centennial Pointe, LLC reserved the right to unilaterally amend the April 2000 CC&Rs. This reservation was contained in the April 2000 CC&Rs. Utah courts and other jurisdictions, have recognized the validity of provisions reserving a developer's right to unilaterally amend, alter, or annul restrictive covenants. *See e.g. The View Condo Owner's Assoc., v. MSICO, LLC*, 2005 UT 91, ¶ 26, 127 P.3d 697 (acknowledging that CC&Rs provided developer the unilateral right to amend CC&Rs, but developer failed to follow the procedures set forth in CC&Rs to implement unilateral amendment).

For example, in *Baldwin v. Barbon Corp.*, 773 S.W.2d 681 (Tex. Ct. App. 1989), the Texas Court of Appeals held that a provision contained in restrictive covenants that reserved a developer's right to unilaterally amend those covenants was valid and enforceable. *See id.* at 686. The provision allowed the developer to amend the covenants without the consent of other lot owners until such time as the developer had sold all of the lots in the development. *See id.* at 682. The developer in *Baldwin* owned a 534 acre tract, a portion of which the developer intended to be for residential development. *See id.* The restrictive covenants imposed a residential lot restriction on the entire 534 acres. *See id.* at 684.

Portions of the acreage had been, and continued to be used to raise cattle. *See id.* at 683. The developer unilaterally amended the restrictive covenants to remove the residential lot restriction on a portion of the acreage. *See id.* at 682. A lot owner sued the developer seeking to have the amendment declared void. *See id.*

The Texas Court of Appeals held that the amendment provision was valid and enforceable. The court explained that the lot owner “purchased his property subject to the Subdivision Restrictions which clearly included an express right of alteration or amendment.” *Id.* at 686. The court utilized a three prong analysis to evaluate provisions reserving a developer’s right to unilaterally amend restrictive covenants. Specifically: (1) the “instrument creating the original restrictions must establish both the right to amend such restrictions and the method of amendment”; (2) the “right to amend such restrictions implies only those changes contemplating a correction, improvement, or reformation of the agreement rather than a complete destruction of it”; and (3) “the amendment to the restrictions may not be illegal or against public policy.” *Id.* at 685. The court concluded that all three prongs were satisfied. It explained that the amendment provision in the restrictive covenants provided the right and the method for amendment. The court also held that the developer’s amendment, which only removed the residential lot restrictions on a portion of the 534 acre tract, did not destroy the general scheme or development plan. *See id.* at 686. And, the court concluded, the amendment did not violate public policy. *See id.*

In *Rossman v. The Seasons at Tiara Rado Assocs.*, 943 P.2d 34 (Colo. Ct. App. 1997), the Colorado Court of Appeals held that a provision contained in restrictive covenants allowing the

developer of a subdivision to unilaterally amend the restrictive covenants was valid and enforceable. In *Rossman*, the developer maintained a sales office in one of the model homes in the subdivision. *See id.* at 35. The restrictive covenants allowed the developer to maintain a sales office on any “unsold Lot or Common Area.” *Id.* at 35. The developer unilaterally amended the restrictive covenants deleting the word “unsold.” *Id.* Property owners in the subdivision sued the developer seeking to have the amendment declared void. *See id.* at 37. The owners argued, *inter alia*, that the sales office increased the amount of traffic and commercial signs in the subdivision and created parking problems. *See id.* at 37.

In addition to holding that the provision allowing for unilateral amendment was valid and enforceable, the court of appeals also held that the developer reasonably exercised its right of amendment. *See id.* at 38. The court explained that the developer’s amendment deleting the word “unsold” “did not destroy the general scheme or plan of development for the neighborhood,” nor did the amendment “authorize a new or different commercial use in the neighborhood.” *Id. (relying on Flamingo Ranch Estates, Inc. v. Sunshine Ranches Homeowners, Inc., 303 So.2d 665, 666 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1974 (holding a grantor reasonably exercises the right to amend restrictive covenants if the grantor does not destroy the general scheme or plan of development for the property)).* The court concluded that the amendment “merely authorized [the developer’s] continued use of the residence as a sales office and model home.” *Id.*

The holdings and analysis in the aforementioned cases are plainly applicable in the present matter. Here, similar to *Baldwin* and *Rossmann*, Centennial Pointe, LLC had expressly reserved the right to amend the April 2000 CC&Rs and provided for a method for doing so. Specifically, the April 2000 CC&Rs state:

(b) Until the Declarant [Centennial Pointe, LLC] has sold all Lots, Declarant shall have the right unilaterally to amend and supplement this Declaration and the Plat to correct any technical errors or to clarify any provision to more fully express the intent of the Declarant for development and management of the Project.

(c) Until the Declarant has sold all Lots, no amendment to the Plat or to any provisions of this Declaration shall be accomplished or effective unless the instrument through which such amendment is purported to be accomplished is consented to in writing by the Declarant.

April 2000 CC&Rs, Section XIV (b), (c). The April 2000 CC&Rs were recorded before Ms. Onyeabor purchased any property in Centennial Pointe and therefore, similar to *Baldwin*, Ms. Onyeabor purchased Lot 1 “subject to [the April 2000 CC&Rs] which clearly included an express right of alteration or amendment.” *Baldwin*, 773 S.W.2d at 686. Further, the facts of this matter show that Centennial Pointe, LLC complied with the requirements and method for amending the April 2000 CC&Rs. First, at the time the Restated Amended CC&Rs were signed and recorded, Centennial Pointe, LLC had not sold all of the Lots in Centennial Pointe, so it still possessed the right to unilaterally amend the April 2000 CC&Rs. *See* April 2000 CC&Rs, Section XIV, (b). Second, the Restated Amended CC&Rs were reduced to writing and consented to by Centennial Pointe, LLC, which satisfied the “method” for amendment. *See Baldwin*, 773 S.W.2d at 685-86; *see* April 2000 CC&Rs, Section XIV, (c).

The facts of this matter also show that Centennial Pointe, LLC exercised its right to amend the April 2000 CC&Rs in a reasonable manner. The Restated Amended CC&Rs reinforced and further clarified Centennial Pointe, LLC's intent that Centennial Pointe be developed and managed as a planned unit development. The Restated Amended CC&Rs did not "destroy the general scheme or plan of development for the property." *Rossman*, 943 P.2d at 38. Centennial Pointe was and continues to be a planned unit development industrial park. The Restated Amended CC&Rs simply clarified definitional ambiguities contained in the April 2000 CC&Rs.

Specifically, the April 2000 CC&Rs declared that Centennial Pointe was to be a "planned unit development." April 2000 CC&Rs Section II. The April 2000 CC&Rs provided that Centennial Pointe's common areas included landscaping, walkways, parking spaces and roads. *See id.* Section I, 1.5, Section XII, 12.8. The April 2000 CC&Rs provided that all Centennial Pointe property owners had the right to use the common areas and had an easement of ingress and egress over the common areas. *See id.* Section IV, 4.6. The April 2000 CC&Rs also provided that the Association was responsible for maintaining and managing the common areas. *See id.* Section VII, 7.1. However, plainly contrary to those definitions and terms, as well as Centennial Pointe, LLC's intent that Centennial Pointe be a planned unit development, the April 2000 CC&Rs defined common areas to exclude "Lots." *Id.* Section I, 1.5. The April 2000 CC&Rs defined "Buildings" to include "landscaping" "and other improvements of any kind existing on a Lot at anytime." *Id.* Section I, 1.3. These definitions created ambiguities because the definitions of Lots, Buildings and common areas overlapped in some respects.

Recognizing the ambiguity and conflict contained in the April 2000 CC&Rs, Centennial Pointe, LLC amended the April 2000 CC&Rs to more clearly define Centennial Pointe's common areas. *See* Sanborn Affidavit at ¶¶ 13, 16. The Restated Amended CC&Rs did not change or alter Centennial Pointe's owners' ownership interests in their respective Lots, the owners remained fee simple owners of their Lots. *Compare* April 2000 CC&Rs Section IV, 4.1, Restated Amended CC&Rs Section IV, 4.1. The Restated Amended CC&Rs did not change Centennial Pointe's owner's right to access and use the common areas. *Compare* April 2000 CC&Rs, Section IV, 4.6, 4.7, Restated Amended CC&Rs, Section IV, 4.5, 4.6. The Restated Amended CC&Rs did not change Centennial Pointe's general scheme or expand the common areas. The Restated Amended CC&Rs continued to vest the Association with the authority to maintain and manage Centennial Pointe's common areas, and with the authority to assess the owners for those and other common expenses. *Compare* April 2000 CC&Rs, Section IV, 4.9, Section VII, 7.1, 7.6, Section VIII; Restated Amended CC&Rs Section IV, 4.7, 4.8, Section VII 7.1, 7.6, Section VIII.

However, the Restated Amended CC&Rs clearly and unambiguously define common areas as "all Utility Lines, lighting not attached to Buildings, fences, landscaping, Accessways, parking spaces, loading/receiving areas, and all other portions of [Centennial Pointe] other than Buildings." *Id.* Section I, 1.6. The term "Building" was amended to "all buildings (including elements and components thereof, including exterior walls and roofs and above-ground attachments thereto)." Restated Amended CC&Rs, Section I, 1.4. The term "Accessways" is defined as "the walkways, entrances, exits, drive aisles,

driveways, interior roads and any other access ways to, from and/or over the Property.” *Id.* Section I, 1.1.

In sum, Centennial Pointe, LLC had the right to unilaterally amend the April 2000 CC&Rs. Ms. Onyeabor purchased property in Centennial Pointe subject to that right. Further, the facts show that Centennial Pointe, LLC exercised that right in a reasonable manner. The Restated Amended CC&Rs furthered Centennial Pointe’s general scheme and plan for development. Accordingly, the Restated Amended CC&Rs are valid and both benefit and burden Ms. Onyeabor Property as a matter of law.

B. Ms. Onyeabor has Admitted that She Signed Centennial Pointe’s Restated CC&Rs as Owner of Lot 1.

While Ms. Onyeabor’s testimony regarding whether she signed the Restated Amended CC&Rs is conflicting, Ms. Onyeabor has testified that she signed and ratified the Restated Amended CC&Rs as the owner of Lot 1. Specifically, during an evidentiary hearing in this matter before Judge Henroid, Ms. Onyeabor testified that she signed the Restated Amended CC&Rs. During that hearing, Ms. Onyeabor was presented with a copy of the Restated Amended CC&Rs bearing her signature. Plaintiffs’ counsel asked Ms. Onyeabor: “You signed the CC&Rs. Is that correct?” *See Exhibit “P,”* CD Counter 4:53:30-4:54:00. Ms. Onyeabor, testifying under oath, responded: “Yes. That signature is mine.” *See Exhibit “P,”* CD Counter 4:53:30-4:54:00. Later, Ms. Onyeabor testified that she was familiar with the Restated Amended CC&Rs that she had signed. *See Exhibit “P,”* CD Counter 4:54:23-4:54:46. Ms. Onyeabor’s own testimony shows that no disputed issue of fact exists regarding whether Ms. Onyeabor signed and ratified the Restated Amended CC&Rs before that document was recorded.

Since making those statements, Ms. Onyeabor has come perilously close to, if not actually, perjuring herself by contradicting her prior sworn testimony and now categorically denying that she signed the Restated Amended CC&Rs. Ms. Onyeabor denied that she signed the Restated Amended CC&Rs in an affidavit dated November 21, 2005, filed with this Court and again in her deposition. Ms. Onyeabor made these potentially perjurious statements before being confronted with the testimony of Jo Ellen Crockett, the notary public who witnessed her sign the Restated Amended CC&Rs and who notarized Ms. Onyeabor's signature. As set forth more fully below, Ms. Crockett's testimony is precise, supported by documentary evidence, and is unassailable. It is not known whether Ms. Onyeabor will continue to perjure herself by asserting in opposition to the present Motion that she did not sign the Restated Amended CC&Rs. Prudence would dictate that she withdraw her erroneous testimony and admit that she signed the Restated Amended CC&Rs.

1. Ms. Onyeabor Cannot Overcome the Legal Presumption that She Signed the Restated Amended CC&Rs.

The overwhelming evidence and legal presumption therefrom unequivocally show that Ms. Onyeabor signed the Restated Amended CC&Rs. Jo Ellen Crockett, the notary public who notarized Ms. Onyeabor signature on the Restated Amended CC&Rs, has testified under oath that she witnessed Ms. Onyeabor sign the Restated Amended CC&Rs. *See* Crockett Depo. pp. 19-20. Ms. Crockett testified that she has been a notary public for approximately ten years. *See id.* p. 6. During her deposition, Ms. Crockett produced a notary log book maintained by her that contained Ms. Onyeabor's name, Utah Driver's License number and signature, as well as a description of the document that Ms.

Onyeabor signed when she appeared before Ms. Crockett on August 3, 2000, specifically, the “Restated Declarations.” *Id.* pp. 12-20, (*referencing* Exhibit A to Ms. Crockett’s deposition, appended hereto as **Exhibit “E”**). Ms. Crockett recalled Ms. Onyeabor’s physical features and her accent. *See id.* pp. 11-12. Ms. Crockett also identified Ms. Onyeabor as the person who appeared before her on August 3, 2000 to sign the Restated Amended CC&Rs, based upon her review of Ms. Onyeabor driver’s license photo during Ms. Crockett’s deposition. *See id.* p. 12.

Moreover, Ms. Crockett’s testimony is corroborated by Ms. Onyeabor’s own testimony. Specifically, Ms. Onyeabor testified that she held an account at America First Credit Union (“America First”) and that she has transacted business at America First’s “Brickyard” office. Onyeabor Depo. p. 17. Indeed, funds Ms. Onyeabor used to purchase Lot 2 were delivered to Landmark Title via an America First Cashier’s Check stating “Landmark Title Re: Miriam Ne Onyeabor.” *See* **Exhibit “F.”** Ms. Crockett testified that at the time she notarized Ms. Onyeabor’s signature Ms. Crockett was an America First employee who worked at its “Brickyard” office. Crockett Depo. p. 5. Ms. Crockett also testified that she confirmed Ms. Onyeabor was an America First account holder before she notarized Ms. Onyeabor’s signature. *See id.* p. 17. Ms. Crockett is a disinterested witness with absolutely no connection to any party except Ms. Onyeabor. Quite simply, no disputed issue of fact exists as to whether Ms. Onyeabor signed the Restated Amended CC&Rs.

Ms. Onyeabor’s testimony and Ms. Crockett’s testimony are buttressed by a legal presumption that Ms. Onyeabor signed the Restated Amended CC&Rs. First, Ms. Crockett’s testimony that she

physically observed Ms. Onyeabor sign the Restated Amended CC&Rs and notarized Ms. Onyeabor's signature qualifies Ms. Crockett as a "subscribing witness" under Utah Code Ann. § 57-2-10, *et seq.* See *Cazares v. Cosby*, 2003 UT 3, ¶ 20, 65 P.3d 1184. In pertinent part, Section 57-2-10 states that the "proof of the execution of any conveyance whereby real estate is conveyed or may be affected shall be: (1) By the testimony of a subscribing witness." Utah Code Ann. § 57-2-10. Moreover, in *Cazares* the Utah Supreme Court expressly stated that the testimony of a subscribing witnesses, where present, remains the preferred method of proving due execution of a conveyance of real property. See *Cazares*, 2003 UT 3 at ¶ 18.²

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